1983

Southeastern Equipment Co., A Georgia Corporation And William Gochis, Intervenor v. James Mauss And Engleharde Mauss dba Jim's Surplus And Storage : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

An agreement was reached between Appellant and the Respondent to satisfy a judgment the Respondent rendered in May, 1975. Respondent denied that the agreement reached the level of a contract and sought to execute on the judgment by noticing up the sale of the Appellant's real property to satisfy the judgment by way of a Sheriff's Sale.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Appellant's Motion to Enjoin the Sheriff's Sale was heard before the Honorable Scott Daniels in the Third Judicial District Court on February 15, 1983. The Court denied the Appellant's request to enjoin the Sheriff's sale.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, Engleharde Mauss, seeks reversal of the court's ruling thereby granting the motion to permanently set aside the Sheriff's sale and uphold the existence of an enforceable contract between the Appellant and the Respondent.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1974, Southeastern Equipment Company sued James J. Mauss, Engleharde Mauss d/b/a Jim's Surplus and Storage to recover monies loaned to Jim Mauss. William Gochis intervened as Plaintiff claiming he had a promissory note from the Mausses dated October 12, 1974, in the sum of \$9,800.00, to be paid on November 12, 1975. On May 12, 1975, Third District Judge Gordon Hall entered judgment against Mauss' in favor of Gochis in the amount of \$9,400.00, plus attorney's fees and court costs.

After the loan was given, but prior to the judgment being rendered, James Mauss died. His wife, Engleharde Mauss, never handled the loan monies and after the judgment was only left at her home. All life insurance and business assets went to satisfy the judgment of Plaintiff Southeastern Equipment.

For five years the Respondent Gochis did not receive any payments on his judgment. In late 1979, arrangements were made between the widow Mauss' counsel and the Respondent Gochis for the former to make monthly payments toward the judgment. Respondent Gochis supplied bank deposit slips to the Appellant to fulfill

...with a payment arrangement of \$20.00 effective January, 1980. Respondent has to increase payment amounts as able and has made such payments since January, 1980.

In January, 1983, Respondent Gochis noticed up a sale of real property on the Appellant's home in order to satisfy the judgment. Appellant Mauss subsequently filed a Motion to Enjoin Sheriff's Sale claiming their contract prevented such a remedy. The Motion was heard on January 24, 1983, before the Third Judicial District Court of Tooele. Judge Scott Daniels handed down a ruling which found no contract existed, and denied the Motion to Enjoin the Sheriff's Sale.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE RESPONDENT CONTRACTED WITH THE APPELLANT TO ACCEPT \$20.00 PER MONTH ON HIS OBLIGATION AND A CONTRACT WAS CREATED BETWEEN THE PARTIES

A contract is a legally enforceable agreement between two parties. Calamari & Perillo, Contracts §1-1(2d ed. 1977). In order for a contract to take effect the following elements must be satisfied:

- a) offer,
- b) acceptance, and
- c) consideration.

a) An offer is a promise to do, or refrain from doing, some specified thing in the future. *id.* In the present case, the respondent Gochis contacted the Appellant's counsel and agreed that

if the Appellant Mauss could begin monthly payments to satisfy his collection efforts and stop harassing the Respondent. The Respondent therefore, implying that he would not seek other remedies for executing the judgment. The Respondent expressed his desire to receive some type of payment on the judgment and thereby might refrain from seeking other legal remedies against the Appellant. she would begin monthly payments of \$20.00. The agreed amount could then be increased as the Appellant was able.

Here a valid offer is present. The Respondent has offered to accept monthly payments to satisfy the judgment and refrain from other legal remedies.

b) Acceptance or assent to an offer binds the parties to a contract. The offeror creates the power, through his offer, in the offeree to transform the offeror's promise into a contractual obligation. Here the Appellant agreed to the Respondent's offer to make monthly deposits in the Respondent's savings account. The Respondent recognized the acceptance by allowing the deposits to be processed and using the money to his benefit. The acceptance of the offer was communicated to the Respondent by letter and through the bank deposits. Therefore, valid acceptance occurred when Appellant Mauss began making monthly deposits.

c) Consideration is legal detriment that has been offered for and exchanged for a promise. Restatement (Second) of Contracts §71 (1981). Traditional consideration has been satisfied with

doctrine of promissory estoppel. The doctrine of reliance and estoppel may be substituted where consideration may not be found. 101 Cal.2d at §90 (1981). Although a pre-existing duty usually will not meet the consideration requirement, if reliance is established, the contract will be upheld and enforced despite the lack of consideration. Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369 (1980).

In Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson, the Utah Supreme Court applied the promissory estoppel doctrine to substitute for consideration and upheld the contract. A judgment was in force against the Defendant to pay \$2,423.86 to the Plaintiff. Two years had lapsed without any payment by the Defendant. The Plaintiff sought action against the Defendant to execute the judgment. Subsequently, the Defendant met with the Plaintiff and an agreement was reached to satisfy the judgment. Later the Plaintiff attempted to deny the agreement and seek other remedies. The court disallowed the Plaintiff's denial and upheld the agreement. The court held that the Defendant had relied on the Plaintiff's promise and he had suffered legal detriment. The court, therefore, found it unjust to allow the Plaintiff to seek other remedies and disregard his promise. When a promisee relies on a promise, public policy may only be served by enforcing the promise.

The Appellant in the instant case has faithfully made monthly deposits to the Respondent for several years. She has been under

the assurance that the contract arrangement has taken on an obligation and has not sought further methods to satisfy its judgment. The Appellant has relied on the Respondent's promise has had the understanding that she would not be further harassed with threats of losing her home.

It would therefore be unjust to allow the Respondent to renege or avoid the contract and harass the Appellant by his executive efforts. She has already lost her husband and the business. Her livelihood is very minimal and the loss of her home would be devastating. Public policy would be best served in upholding the contract by imputing consideration through a reliance/estoppel theory.

II. THE CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES IS NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS

The Utah Code Annotated 25-5-4 states as follows:

In the following case every agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some notice or memorandum therefore is in writing, subscribed by the party to be charged herewith:

- 1) Every agreement by its terms that is not to be performed within one year from the making thereof.
- A) The letter of February, 1980, is evidence of a contract to meet the Statute of Frauds.

A Memorandum will satisfy the Statute of Frauds requirement to evidence a contract. In Guinand v. Walton, 22 Utah 2d 18 P.2d 467 (1969), the Supreme Court of Utah heard a case which

... the contract to recover commissions. The following defenses were raised: 1) no valid contract, 2) no consideration, and 3) violation of the Statute of Frauds. The Court examined a letter which didn't exactly describe or completely state the terms of the oral agreement. The Court ruled that the letter was sufficient to satisfy the Statute of Frauds requirement. The Court upheld the contract and allowed recovery of the commissions.

The Restatement (Second) on Contracts §131 (1981) further explains the requirements of the Statute of Frauds:

Unless additional requirements are prescribed by the particular statute, a contract within Statute of Frauds is enforceable if it is evidenced by any writing signed by or on behalf of the party to be charged, which

- a) reasonably identifies the subject matter,
- b) is sufficient to indicate that a contract with respect thereto has been made between the parties or offered by the signor to the other party, and
- c) states with reasonable certainty the essential terms of the unperformed promises in the contract.

As evident from the Restatement, a letter setting forth the agreement will satisfy the Statute of Frauds. The Appellant, through her counsel, wrote a letter to the Respondent which, although not precise, set forth: 1) the identity of the parties, 2) referred to the agreement between the parties, and 3) stated the essential terms of the contract. A memorandum is only evidence of a writing to meet Statute of Frauds requirements. It is not

subject to strict analysis concerning precise contractual language.

Generally, courts allow memorandum evidence to satisfy the Statute of Frauds requirement. Therefore, the letter will meet this requirement.

- B) Partial performance on an oral contract can, notwithstanding Statute of Frauds requirements, uphold a contract by a court of equity.

The doctrine of partial performance was employed to take a contract out of the Statute of Frauds in Price v. Lloyd, 317 U.S. 86, 86 P. 767 (1906). This doctrine provides an equitable result that otherwise would result in forfeiting oral contracts. Courts disfavor the forfeiture of contracts and will allow partial performance to prevent forfeiture. (See also Jensen v. Whites, 13 Utah 2d 193, 370 P.2d 765 (1963)).

The Appellant Mauss has made monthly payments since the agreement. She has put forth a good effort to meet the monthly deposits. Her partial performance should take the oral contract out of the Statute of Frauds. If the court deems the letter is sufficient as memorandum, the court should impose the partial performance doctrine.

The Appellant contends that by either the memorandum theory or partial performance that the Statute of Frauds requirement is satisfied. The contract between the Appellant and Respondent is therefore, not barred by the Statute of Frauds.

III. THE DOCTRINE OF PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL REQUIRES
THE APPELLANT TO NOT EXECUTE ON THE OBLIGATOR

Estoppel is a remedy to promote the ends of justice. In Glitsos v. Kadish, 4 Ariz. App. 134, 418 P.2d 129 (1966), the court applied an estoppel remedy to enforce the contract and prevent a denial of the contract. The Arizona Appellate Court based its decision on the following statement:

The remedy of estoppel has for its purpose the promotion of the ends of justice, and the doctrine is grounded on equity and good conscience. It is based on the grounds of public policy and good faith, and is interposed to prevent injury, fraud, injustice and inequitable consequences by denying to a person the right to repudiate his acts, admissions, or representations, when they have been relied on by persons to whom they were directed and whose conduct they were intended to and did influence.

31 C.J.S. Estoppel §63 (_____)

The Respondent Gochis has attempted to repudiate his acts and representations he has given to the Appellant Mauss. He seeks to deny the contract and take steps to pursue another remedy. The Appellant has performed to the best of her ability and should not be required to be subjected to further harrassment from the Respondent. The Respondent has unilaterally determined that the agreement has not met his expectations and has thereby attempted to deny it. Just because a party of a contract becomes dissatisfied with it is not a sufficient reason to deny a contract. The Respondent is responsible for his own actions and should be held to them.

The estoppel theory must be employed to prevent the Respondent from prevailing on the Appellant widow. If he made his choice and should not now be allowed to withdraw it, he now perceives to be a bad bargain. It would be unwise to allow parties to make agreements and then subsequently deny them. The Respondent should be estopped from executing on the judgment of derogation of the contract which he has entered into with the Appellant.

CONCLUSION

The arrangement between the Respondent and the Appellant is not a mere understanding but an agreement which is subject to contract law. Public policy should uphold the contract in order to prevent the harrassment of this Appellant widow. Her home should not be sacrificed at the will of the unhappy Respondent who entered into a contract he now dislikes. The Respondent should be estopped from seeking a sheriff's sale and the contract should be enforced.

Based on the foregoing reasons, the Appellant urges that you to reverse the decision of the Third Judicial District Court.