1983

Southeastern Equipment Co., A Georgia Corporation And William Gochis, Intervenor v. James Mauss And Engleharde Mauss dba Jim's Surplus And Storage : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF CASE

On January 31, 1983, a Sheriff's Sale was to be conducted in order to sell, at a public sale, the following described parcel of real property:

Lot 3 of Block 135, Plat "A", Tooele City Survey, Tooele County.

The Appellant, prior to the scheduled Sheriff's Sale, sought to stop the sale by submitting a Motion to Enjoin Sheriff's Sale. This Motion was heard on February 15, 1983. The Appellant contended, at the hearing, that a contract existed between the parties which limited the Respondent to collect only a \$20.00 per month payment on the judgment of \$11,540.33, which

was awarded to the Respondent on May 12, 1975. The Respondent contended, at the hearing, that no such contract ever existed. The Respondent did agree that since January of 1980 he had been receiving \$20.00 per month from the Appellant to be applied on the judgment, but he did not enter into a contract with the Appellant to be forever bound to such an arrangement.

The Court found that there was no contract between the parties limiting the Respondent to receiving only \$20.00 per month for payment of the judgment and denied the Appellant's injunction. The Appellant appeals from that ruling.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1974 James Mauss and his wife, Engleharde Mauss were owners and operators of the business known as Jim's Surplus and Storage located in Tooele, Utah. During the operation of this business, the Mauss's borrowed money from William Gochis in order to further the business operation.

On October 12, 1974 the Mauss's, jointly and severally, borrowed \$9,800.00 from William Gochis. This transaction is evidenced by the Installment Promissory Note executed by James Mauss and Engleharde Mauss. See Exhibit 1. The Installment Promissory Note bore no interest and was to be paid, in full, on November 12, 1974. The note was not paid, nor any portion of it paid, on or before November 12, 1974.

As a result of the Appellants' default, a lawsuit was instituted; and on May 12, 1975 the Court entered a judgment against the Appellants in favor of the Respondent. The Trial

Court awarded the Respondent the sum of \$9,400.00, plus \$2,118.33 in attorney's fees, and \$22.00 in court costs. See Exhibit 2.

After the Judgment and during the next five (5) years, the Appellants made no payments on the Judgment, and the Respondent made no attempts to collect or execute on the Judgment. In late 1979 the Respondent made numerous contacts with the Appellants' attorney in an attempt to get the Appellant to start paying "something" on the Judgment.

In January of 1980, as a result of working through the Appellants' attorney, the Respondent started receiving \$20.00 per month as payment on the Judgment. The Appellant's attorney, also, told the Respondent that at some point the monthly payments would be increased, and the Judgment would be satisfied. The monthly payments have never been increased, and the Judgment remains unsatisfied.

At the time Appellant started making the \$20.00 per month payments, which was January of 1983, the Judgment, plus the accrued interest at the legal rate, was approximately \$14,569.39. Interest was accruing at the legal rate of six percent (6%) per annum or \$69.00 per month.

The Respondent never agreed, in writing or orally, to only accept \$20.00 per month as payment on the Judgment. The Respondent never agreed, in writing or orally, to forgo or waive any of his legal remedies to collect on the Judgment and neither did he imply the same at any time.

Three (3) years later, when it became apparent that Appellant was not going to satisfy the Judgment and only intended to make \$20.00 per month payments on the Judgment, the Respondent sought to proceed with the collection of the Judgment through a Sheriff's Sale.

The Appellant attempted to enjoin the Sheriff's Sale on the premise that the parties had entered into a contract whereby the Respondent was limited to only receiving \$20.00 per month as payment on the Judgment. The Court denied the Appellant's Motion To Enjoin Sheriff's Sale on the basis that no such contract ever existed between the parties.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE RESPONDENT DID NOT CONTRACT WITH THE APPELLANT TO ACCEPT ONLY \$20.00 PER MONTH IN PAYMENT ON THE \$11,540.33 JUDGMENT AWARDED TO THE RESPONDENT.

The Respondent adamantly denies the existence of any contract with the Appellant to accept only \$20.00 per month on a Judgment exceeding \$11,000.00. The Respondent denies there was any offer, acceptance or consideration in order to consummate a valid contract.

The Appellant did not offer to pay \$20.00 per month on the Judgment with the intent to form a contract, and the Respondent did not receive the \$20.00 per month with the intent to form a contract with the Appellant. The Respondent had made several contacts with Appellant's attorney trying to get the Appellant to pay "something" on the Judgment. These conversations before

Appellant's attorney and the Respondent resulted in an ad hoc understanding that the Appellant would begin making \$20.00 per month payments; and that, at some point in time, the Appellant would increase that monthly payment. The fact that Respondent received these \$20.00 per month payments is not an "acceptance" with the intent to contract as required by law to form a contract. Mr. Gochis was elated to receive "any" type of payment from the Appellant after he had received no payments for almost five (5) years.

Even assuming that the Court finds that there has been an offer and an acceptance in the traditional sense of contract law, the alleged contract between the parties is not valid because it is not supported by the essential element of valuable consideration. The classical definition of consideration is as follows:

"A valuable consideration in the sense of the law, may consist either in some right, profit, or benefit accruing to the one party, or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility, given suffered or undertaken by the other." (Contract Law by Charles Knapp.)

In the case at bar, the debt owed to Respondent was reduced to Judgment in May of 1975. The amount owed to the Respondent at that time was \$11,540.33. The Judgment became, and is today, a pre-existing obligation owed to the Respondent.

Appellant's counsel originally argued and represented to the Trial Court that "in this case the consideration is that the Defendant (Appellant) was repaying the obligation to the Intervening Plaintiff (Respondent)". See Paragraph 4 of Page 4

of Defendant's (Appellant), Memorandum in Support of Motion to Enjoin Sheriff's Sale. Now, before the Appellate Court, Appellant's counsel is arguing that the consideration for the alleged contract should be the doctrine of promissory estoppel and/or that the Appellant has relied upon the understanding of the parties to her legal detriment. See Pages 4 and 5 of Appellant's Brief.

It is a well established principal that the doctrine of promissory estoppel may be applied, in certain cases, as a substitute for consideration. Appellant's counsel cites Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369 (1980), as a case illustrating this principal. Although this case has some similarity to the facts of the present case, it has nothing to do with the doctrine of promissory estoppel.

Judge Durham determined that the principal of accord and satisfaction ruled the outcome of the case not promissory estoppel. In Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson, Mr. Anderson had incurred a different legal detriment as a result of satisfying the debt he owed to Sugarhouse Finance. Mr. Anderson had borrowed the money elsewhere to satisfy the debt, thereby detrimentally relying on the parties' agreement.

"In effect, defendant had agreed to transfer the debt represented by plaintiff's judgment to a third party, thereby immediately satisfying the obligation owed to plaintiff. This was something defendant had no legal obligation to do; by law, plaintiff could only move by levy of execution on the property already owned by the defendant - plaintiff could not legally require defendant to incur additional obligations to satisfy the judgment. By so doing,

POINT II

THE CONTRACT, IF ANY, BETWEEN THE PARTIES IS
BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

The Utah Code Annotated, Section 25-5-4, 1953, as amended, states as follows:

"In the following cases every agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith:

"(1) Every agreement by its terms is not to be performed within one year from the making thereof."

The Appellant argues that the alleged contract is memorialized in the legal sense in the letter which Mr. Barrie Vernon sent to the Respondent on February 8, 1980, thereby satisfying the Statute of Frauds.

It is obvious that a \$20.00 per month payment on a Judgment in excess of \$11,000.00 will not satisfy the same within one (1) year. Therefore, a writing or an acceptable memorandum of that agreement must be in writing.

Mr. Vernon's letter of February 8, 1980 does not set forth or memorialize the terms or conditions of any contract. The only thing Mr. Vernon does do is to represent that the Appellant will be making \$20.00 per month payments but, also, immediately begins to dispute the amount due pursuant to the 1974 Promissory Note. That issue was determined by the Trial Court in the original case which reduced the promissory note to a Judgment of \$11,540.23, net \$8,600.00 as stated in Mr. Vernon's letter.

The letter is, also, not signed by the person to be charged by it, namely the Appellant nor the Respondent. I strongly urge

the Court that a letter sent to a person by another's attorney disputing the amount owed, which, by the way, had already been reduced to judgment, and rehearsing events which allegedly occurred several years prior, that this "writing" does not meet the criteria of Section 131, Restatement (Second) on Contracts (1981).

Furthermore, the contents of the letter show no legal detriment to the Appellant as and for consideration to bind such an arrangement.

Appellant cites Guinand v. Walton, 22 Utah 2d 196, 450 P.2d 467 (1969), in support of the memorandum theory. The letter in that case was signed by the persons who were incurring a legal detriment. They were exchanging business assets to secure the employment from another person. The Appellant in the present case suffered no legal detriment.

Appellant argues that the alleged oral contract was partially performed and therefore it should be taken out of the Statute of Frauds and made totally enforceable. Appellant cites Price vs. Lloyd, 31 Utah 86, 86 P.2d 767 (1906) and Jensen v. Whitesides, 13 Utah 2d 193, 370 P.2d 765 (1963) in support of that argument. A careful reading of both of these cases indicated that the agrieved party in each case had fully performed their part of the oral agreement; and as a result thereof, the oral agreement was enforced notwithstanding the Statute of Frauds. I suggest to the Court that the proposition that controls when partial performed oral agreements should be

taken out of the Statute of Frauds is as follows: When an oral contract is not performable within one (1) year and should be in writing according to the applicable Statute of Frauds and the oral agreement is fully performed on one side then by the great weight of authority the Court may make the oral contract enforceable. The rationale being that this avoids the injustice which would result if the party who had received the others performance could use the Statute of Frauds to escape his own obligation. Dutton v. Interstate Investment Corporation, 19 Cal.2d 65, 199 P.2d 138 (1941).

Therefore, partial performance of an oral contract not performable within one (1) year can only make enforceable that portion of the oral contract which has been performed.

It is obvious that the Appellant, by paying \$20.00 per month, would not pay off a Judgment of \$11,540.33, plus the accruing interest at the legal rate, within one (1) year; and therefore, any agreement of this nature should have been in writing. Assuming that the Court finds an oral agreement existed, then only that portion of the agreement which has been performed is enforceable.

POINT III

THE DOCTRINE OF PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL IS NOT APPLICABLE TO THE CASE AT BAR.

Promissory estoppel is an equitable remedy that should be imposed to prevent fraud, serious injury or some manifest injustice. Appellant cites Glitsos v. Kadish, 4 Ariz. App. 111.

18 P.2d 129 (1966) as a case evolving the doctrine of promissory estoppel. In that case, an agreement had been reached between the parties whereby the plaintiff did not foreclose on the mechanic's lien which he held in reliance upon the defendant's promise to pay the \$681.46 debt. The defendant never paid the debt and the six (6) month statute time limit expired in which to foreclose on the lien. The defendant then denied any liability on the debt. The Court held that the defendant was estopped from denying the liability and may be sued in a personal action regardless of the fact that the time for foreclosing on the lien had expired.

The Court determined that Kadish's forbearance of not foreclosing on the lien may not have had "consideration" in the traditional sense, "but he certainly forebore in reliance upon Appellants promise to pay". Glitsos v. Kadish, p. 132. Furthermore, Kadish would have been substantially injured as a result of that forbearance if the Court allowed Glitsos to deny his liability.

The Appellant has not, in these proceedings, forbore or suffered any legal or equitable injury to the rights or interests she may have, or had, as a result of paying \$20.00 per month on the Judgment. Nor has she suffered any injustice as a result of the Respondent patiently accepting only \$20.00 per month as payment on a Judgment of \$11,540.33, plus interest at the legal rate, over a three (3) year period of time. The legal

interest alone on the Judgment and compounded interest, is currently accruing at \$125.00 per month.

The Court would be creating a manifest injustice for the Respondent if it allowed the Appellant to continue making the \$20.00 per month payments on the Judgment

CONCLUSION

In summary, it is the Respondent's position that in the absence of any offer, acceptance or consideration that there is no valid contract between him and the Appellant. Any payment the Appellant has made to Respondent should not be deemed to be "consideration" for the creation of any new contract because the Appellant is only paying on a pre-existing duty which was created when a Judgment was rendered against the Appellant in May of 1975.